FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
8/29/2019 3:48 PM
BY SUSAN L. CARLSON
CLERK

97596-5

Court of Appeals Case No. 35828-3-III

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

State of Washington, Respondent

V.

Jared S. Lee *Appellant*

Appeal from Division III of the Court of Appeals

PETITION FOR REVIEW

Attorney for Appellant, Jared S. Lee: Douglas D. Phelps, WSBA #22620 Phelps & Associates N. 2903 Stout Rd. Spokane, WA 99206 (509) 892-0467

IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

COMES NOW, Jared S. Lee, Petitioner, respectfully brings this Petition for Review pursuant to RAP 13.4 and respectfully requests this court accept review of the Court of Appeals decision designated in Part II of this petition.

I. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

The Petitioner seeks review of the Court of Appeals Decision issued July 30, 2019, denying Petitioner a new trial. The appellate court incorrectly interpreted RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a), same criminal conduct where victims occupied the same vehicle which is a question of substantial public interest requiring Supreme Court review under RAP 13.4(b)(4). The decision of the appellate court is contrary to the Washington Supreme Court in *State V. Roberts*, 117 Wn 2d. 576, 586, 817 P. 2d 855 (1991) by failing to apply the rule of lenity to an ambiguous statute.

II. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b) (1) and (4) the Supreme Court should accept review because the question of interpretation of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) in case of multiple victims in the same vehicle is a question of substantial public interest. Additionally the Court of Appeals failed to apply the *State V. Roberts*, 117 Wn 2d 576, 586, 817 P.2d 855 (1991) in interpreting the RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a).

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Appellant, Jared Steven Lee, was alleged on March 5, 2017 to have taken money from Esteban Salazar by use of force or threatened use of force, which is First Degree Robbery. (CP 38-39). Additionally, he was charged with Attempted First Degree Robbery of Roger Salazar for an attempt to take money from him by use or threatened use of force. (CP 35-39). Both of these charges were enhanced by the use of a firearm. (CP 35-39). In the same information, he was charged with First Degree Unlawful Possession of a Firearm. (CP 35-39).

Jury selection began on January 3, 2018 with Superior Court Judge Richard Bartheld presiding. (CP 74-75). The jury was selected and seated on January 3, 2018. Opening statements were given on January 3, 2018. (RP 175). The prosecutor advised they intended to prove Count I First Degree Robbery for taking twelve dollars (\$12.00) in cash from Esteban Salazar. Count II Attempted First Degree Robbery was for trying to take three thousand dollars (\$3,000.00) from Roger Salazar. Count III for having a firearm in his possession when he no longer had a right to do so. (RP 175-176). The defense reserved on its opening statement. (RP 186).

The State called Roger Salazar, age 24, to the stand. (RP 187). Roger Salazar testified his father is Esteban Salazar and he doesn't speak English, only Spanish. (RP 187). Roger Salazar was wanting to purchase a BMW car, which was found on Craigslist. (RP 188). He communicated through text messages

about the car. (RP 189). The person he communicated with claimed to be "Stacey" and he was sent a picture of the car. (RP 190). Ultimately, the two agreed on a price of \$3,000.00 which he took out of his bank account. (RP 191).

An agreement was made to meet at Fiesta Foods in Yakima at around 3:30. (RP 192). The State introduced photos of a series of phone texts arranging the purchase of the BMW. (RP 206). He advised Stacey he would be arriving in a Jetta. (RP 238). He then texted that he was at the Sun Dome in the Fiesta Foods parking lot. (RP 241). He parked in the lot close to Fair Avenue and they had \$3,000.00 with them. (RP 243). The money was in his wallet by the gearshift. (RP 244).

A man approached the car wearing a hooded sweatshirt with a hat that looked like a Seahawks hat. (RP 246). The man got into the car in the rear passenger seat. (RP 247). They drove to another location in the Fiesta Foods parking lot. (RP 218). The man pointed a gun at Esteban Salazar's head and said that there was no car, he wanted money. (RP 248). He also told them to stop the car and raise their hands. (RP 249). Roger Salazar testified he was afraid. (RP 249). He told the man that he did not have the money. (RP 250). The gun would move to point at him or his father depending on who was talking. (RP 251).

Roger's father, Esteban, threw twelve dollars (\$12.00) at the man and told him that was all they had. (RP 252). The man with the gun told them they had the money and he wanted all of it. (RP 252). The man pointed the gun at Roger

Salazar and told him that he wanted all the money. (RP 253). Roger's father said something about his brother and grabbed the gun and started fighting. (RP 253). Roger turned off the car and went around to the back seat to open the door and grabbed the man with the gun. (RP 254). He pulled the man out by the neck and he let go of the gun and tried to run away. (RP 255). His father got out of the car and had the gun. (RP 255).

Roger grabbed the man by his vest and a bullet proof vest came off. (RP 256). As they struggled an employee from Fiesta Foods came over and helped hold the man. (RP 256). He kicked the man twice after he fell to the ground. (RP 257). His father hit the man with the gun on the head. (RP 259). He hit him on the head with the butt of the gun. (RP 260). A second man approached them and his father pointed the gun at him. (RP 261). The other man then ran away. (RP 262).

The police came and placed the man in handcuffs who he identified as the defendant, Jared Steven Lee. (RP 263). The police took pictures of the \$3,000.00 that they had with them. (RP 264). The plate of the silver Jetta Volkswagen was introduced as evidence. (RP 267). A number of photos were admitted of the auto and the scene after the police arrived at Fiesta Foods. (RP 273). In exhibit #44, Roger Salazar points out a bullet-proof vest from Mr. Lee. (RP 279-280). Mr. Roger Salazar gave a DNA sample to the police. (RP 283). On cross-examination, Roger Salazar testified that his father threw the \$12.00 to Mr. Lee.

(RP 287). Roger Salazar's father hit Mr. Lee in the head with the butt of the gun. (RP 288).

The prosecution called Joe Scherschligt, Yakima P.D. (RP 292). Officer Scherschligt was dispatched to Fiesta Foods for a fight involving a weapon. (RP 293-294). He pulled into the store parking lot where two males were holding a third male subject. (PR 295). The officer saw a .45 caliber gun and a bullet-proof vest lying on the ground. (RP 296). Pistol was silver in color and it was a semi-automatic. (RP 297). Roger Salazar and a man named Alejandro were holding on to Mr. Lee. (RP 297). He identifies COBAN on his car recording device. (RP300). When he approached, he drew his weapon, a semi-automatic weapon. (RP 302). Mr. Jared Lee had blood on his forehead. (RP 304). COBAN in-car video was admitted to show Mr. Lee in the police vehicle. (RP 305). The court later reversed and ruled the video of Mr. Lee in the back of the police vehicle was inadmissible until Mr. Lee testified. (RP 310). The court allowed the video until Mr. Lee was in the back of the squad car. (RP 317-318). A number of the photos of evidence including the firearm were admitted. (RP 322).

Anthony Avela is called as a government's witness. (RP 325). Mr. Anthony Avela works at Fiesta Foods. (RP 327). He saw a light-skinned guy held by two Hispanic males. He saw one of the Hispanic males pull-out a gun and start striking the white guy on the head. He told the Hispanic male to put down the gun. Then he waits for the police to arrive. (RP 328). When the police

officer arrived the officer drew his gun; that was when Mr. Avela released the white man he was holding onto. (RP 329). He did see the Hispanic male hitting Mr. Lee with the gun. (RP 332). The Hispanic man struck the white man three times with the gun. (RP 333).

Officer Jim Wolcott of the Yakima Police Department testified he has been on the department for 30 years and 8 months. (RP 334). He arrived at the Fiesta Foods parking lot where he observed a number of people fighting. (RP 335). He observed a firearm on the ground in the parking lot, a silver colored automatic handgun. (RP 337). The evidence was collected from the scene. (RP 339). He collected a jacket, mask, gloves and Legends Casino receipt. (RP 342). The body armor was admitted into evidence. (RP 349). The weapon was admitted into evidence. (RP 352). A Seahawks stocking cap was admitted into evidence. (RP 356). A cell phone was taken from the back seat of the Salazars' car. (RP 358). The officers located an identification for a "Brandon Lee" and it was admitted into evidence. (RP 371). He collected no money from the scene. (RP 380).

Rebecca Rasmusson was called to testify. (RP 381). She is the office assistant for Sun Comm 911 Communications. (RP 382). She took a 911 call from the case and put it on a disc. (RP 383-384). The 911 call was admitted into evidence. (RP 385).

Maria De La Luz Nino Sierra is called, who worked at Fiesta Foods. (RP 385-386). She was in the parking lot and heard yelling. (RP 387). She saw two Hispanic males holding a white guy. (RP 388). She saw that one of the Hispanic guys had a gun. (RP 388). The men were wrestling. (RP 388). She saw another employee help the Hispanic men hold the white guy. (RP 390). She made the 911 call to the police. (RP 392).

The State called Officer Kasey Hampton of the Yakima Police Department. (RP 409). Officer Hampton had been with the Yakima Police Department for 17 ½ years in March 2017, and she was assigned to the Detective division (RP 410). She worked the robbery investigation in the Fiesta Foods parking lot. (RP 411) She obtained DNA samples from Roger and Esteban Salazar. Additionally, she took a DNA sample from Mr. Lee. (RP 412) She forwarded the samples to the Washington State Patrol lab. (RP 413) Along with the samples taken from the gun by Ms. Drury of the Yakima City Crime lab. (RP 413) Identifies exhibit 14 as DNA swab from the grips of the gun. (RP 414) Exhibits 10, 11, 12, 13, 14, and 15 were admitted (RP 415-420)

Krista Drury of Yakima Police Department forensic lab called. (RP 420)

Trained in forensic science from Central Washington University and Masters

University of New Haven. (RP421) She examined a .45 caliber Smith and

Wesson semi-automatic weapon capable of holding 8 rounds in the magazine and
one bullet in the weapon. (RP 429-430)

The firearm was tested and it would fire a bullet. (RP 431) The weapon was fingerprinted, but no usable fingerprints were found on the weapon. (RP 434) DNA evidence was used to obtain DNA from the grips of the firearm. (RP 438) She observed a red stain on the firearm grips that she swabbed believing it to be blood. (RP 438-439)

State called Laura Kelly (RP 445) working with Washington State Crime Lab in Vancouver, Washington. (RP 446) The method of DNA testing used was the STR, or short tandem repeats. (RP 452) A mixed DNA profile includes DNA from more than one individual. (RP 455) Blood was found in the swabs from the grip and slide of the weapon. (RP 470-471) The profile from the DNA matched Jared Lee, 1 in 6.3 decillion. (RP 471) That would be 6.3 followed by 32 zeros. (RC 471) Jared Lee was the major mixture and no comparisons could be made for the minor component of the mixture. (RP 471) The profile from the magazine could not be identified. (RP 472) The blood on the gun could be consistent with a person being hit in the head or with a person holding the gun. (RP 478)

Officer Jaime Gonzalez is called as a witness. (RP 479) He is fluent in both English and Spanish. (RP 479) Responded to call at Fiesta Foods in Yakima. (RP 480) Esteban Salazar was present and he appeared excited and scared. (RP 482) He collected a Seahawk stocking cap from the vehicle owned by Salazar. (RP 484) A white-colored cell phone that was found in the back seat of Salazar's vehicle. (RP 485) Additionally, black gloves and sunglasses that

were found were admitted into evidence. (RP 486) There was no \$12.00 that was recovered, but it was reportedly offered to person that had the gun. (RP 488) He does not remember anyone saying the money was taken, but that it was offered to Mr. Lee. (RP 488) The \$3,000.00 was documented as being in the car. (RP 488) The police would have looked for the \$12.00 if the victim had told them it was given to the suspect. (RP 489) He remembered that the \$12.00 was offered to Mr. Lee, but it had not been taken. (RP 490, lines 11-14) Officer Gonzalez's report documents that Esteben Salazar said he offered the \$12.00 from his pocket to the suspect. (RP 491, line 24 to RP 492, line 6) and the suspect yelled he wanted \$3,000.00. Sergeant Tory Adams of the Yakima Police Department was called to the stand (RP 492) He responded to the Fiesta Foods parking lot and drove into the lot. (RP 493) Body armor, a black coat or sweatshirt, a firearm, and a wallet were found. (RP 493) The two pieces of body armor were approximately eight-feet apart. (RP 494) The firearm was found on top of the coat in the parking lot. (RP 494) The firearm, wallet, and jacket were all found close together. (RP 494) The wallet had Brandon Lee's identification inside it. (RP 495) He looked in the back seat but found nothing more of interest. (RP 495) A photo of the back seat was admitted as exhibits 68 and 69, and there was a bottle and papers but no money. (RP 496) Another photo of the floor board of the car was admitted as exhibit 70. (RP 497) A third and fourth photo of the back seat of the car were admitted as exhibits 71 and 72. The prosecutor published

photos 68-73 showing the back seat of the car. (RP 499) The Salazars showed \$3200.00 they brought for the car purchase. (RP 500) He photographed the \$3200.00, which they, Salazars, had with them. (RP 502)

Sergeant Troy Adams remembers Roger Salazar was emotional and quivering. (RP 505) Esteban was more consoling towards his son. (RP 505-506) He never saw twelve dollars in the car. (RP 507) He never heard anyone say that twelve dollars was taken. (RP508)

The state calls Julie Jacobs. She works at Yakima Police Department in police services processing police reports. (RP 518) The system is called NIBRing, National Incident Base Reporting System. (RP 518) She found that the police report mentions \$12.00 given to the suspect but that \$12.00 was not recorded. (RP 521)

Officer Scherschligt was recalled by the state. (RP 522) Mr. Esteban Salazar said that he gave Mr. Lee \$12.00. (RP 523) Mr. Lee was not found with the \$12.00 by him. (RP 525) The report documents that Roger Salazar said he gave Mr. Lee \$12.00 from his front pocket. (RP 526)

The state called Esteban Salazar to the stand. (RP527) An interpreter was interpreting his testimony. (RP 527) Mr. Salazar is 47-years-old. (RP 528) Roger Salazar is 24-years-old. (RP 528) He saw a car on Craigslist on March 4, 2017. (RP 529) He speaks very little English. (RP 530) Text messages were used to discuss the car purchase. (RP 530) An agreement was reached for the car

purchase. (RP 530) A meeting was set for Fiesta Foods to purchase the car. (RP 531) They took the \$3,000.00 to purchase the car. (RP 531) The \$3,000.00 was placed between the seats near the gear shift. (RP 532) They did not take a gun with them to Fiesta Foods (RP 532) As they were seated in the car, Mr. Lee approached them. (RP 533) The man spoke English as he got into the car. (RP 534) The man demanded the \$3,000.00 (RP 535) The man pointed a gun at his head. (RP 535) He said that he pulled twelve dollars from his shirt and gave it to the man. (RP 535) The man took the twelve dollars, but said he wanted \$3,000.00. (RP 536) He told him that his brother was coming with the money. (RP 536) The man looked away for a minute and he grabbed the gun. (RP 536) He punched the man in the face and he let go of the gun. (RP 537) Roger turned off the car and grabbed the man. (RP 537). Another man then came at him as he got out of the car and he pointed the gun at the other guy. (RP539) The police were called by him. (RP 539) The police responded and arrested the man. (RP 540) He was unable to identify the man who robbed him as Mr. Lee. (RP541-542) The man that was there has a Seahawk's hat. (RP 543)

He spoke with the man although his English is limited. (RP 546) He took the gun from the man because he pointed it at his son. (RP 548) He testified that he offered Mr. Lee the twelve dollars. (RP 548) That the man in the back seat took the \$12.00 from him. (RP 548) The stipulation that on 7/30/1999, Mr. Lee

was convicted of a serious offense was read into the record. The government rests. (RP 558)

The defense raised a motion to dismiss the first degree robbery charge based upon the \$12.00 that was unaccounted for after the search of the automobile. (RP 560) The twelve dollars was not in the automobile nor on Mr. Jared Lee. (RP 560) No one entered the \$12.00 into evidence. One person said Roger had the \$12.00, and Esteben said that he had the \$12.00. Mr. Lee is not found with any money. (RP 560) Additionally, the defense sought dismissal of the firearm charges because the DNA places his blood on the gun from being struck in the head but no DNA of his on the grip or magazine well and also no fingerprints which is count 3. (RP 561)

The court ruled that it could dismiss only where there was no evidence to support the state's case. (RP 561, lines 13-16) The defense argued the \$12.00 was never found. (RP 561) All the state has is the conflicting statements about both Roger and Esteben giving the money to Mr. Lee. (561) The court found that there was "some evidence" in the conflicting statements of the Salazars. (RP 562) Esteben said that he gave the \$12.00 to Mr. Lee. (RP 562) Therefore, there is evidence to support the charge of First Degree Robbery (RP 562) As to the First Degree Possession of a Firearm, there is the DNA evidence and both Esteben and Roger testified that Jared Lee held the firearm. RP 563) In looking at whether it

was an attempt or actual robbery that is a question for the jury. (RP 564, lines 7-13)

The prosecution argued because Mr. Esteben gave the \$12.00 to Jared Lee that is the First Degree Robbery in Count I. (RP 605, lines 2-6) The demand for all the money was the Attempted Robbery. (RP 606, lines 10-17) The \$3,000.00 was not obtained, but he got everything he could get. (RP 607), lines 6-13)

On appeal, the appellant argued that sentencing the defendant for two robbery counts and two weapons enhancements for the same course of conduct was improper under the merger doctrine. (Appellant's brief, pgs. 14-17) The appellate court cites to RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) as the basis for the denial of the appellant's request to not impose multiple firearm enhancements. *Washington v. Lee*, Case No. 35828-3-III p.8

IV. ARGUMENT

1. Pursuant to RAP 14.4(b)(1) and (4), the Supreme Court should accept review because the question of interpretation of RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) in a case of multiple victims in the same vehicle is a question of substantial public interest. Additionally, the Court of Appeals failed to apply State v. Roberts, 117 Wn.2d 576, 586, 817 P. 2d 856 (1991) in interpreting RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a)

Has the court of appeals misinterpreted RCW 9.94A, 589 (1)(a) under the facts of this case to increase the defendants sentence based upon "same criminal conduct"?

The appellate court in its unpublished opinion on page 9 applies the "same criminal conduct" to determine that the two alleged victims both seated in the automobile at time of the crime were separate victims.

The legislature specifically writes in 9.94A.589(1)(a) that:

"Same criminal conduct," as used in this subsection, means two or more crimes that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place and involve the same victim. This definition applies in cases, involving vehicular assault or vehicular homicide even if the victims occupied the same vehicle."

The language sets out that victims under vehicular assaults or vehicular homicide in the same vehicle apply this definition. The legislature did not set out the same criteria for cases of robbery that occur with victims in the same vehicle. Had the legislature intended that multiple victims of robbery occurring in a single vehicle were to be held to be treated as separate victims the legislature would have included armed robber in RCW 9.94A.589 (1)(a).

In this case as the court of appeals decision ignores the language which specifically states vehicular assault and vehicular homicide where victims are in the same vehicle applies. Had the legislature intended other crimes to be calculated similarly it would have included those crimes in its legislation.

Arguably, the statute is ambiguous as applied to Mr. Lee because the robbery occurred in a vehicle with two different individuals. As RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) is ambiguous as applied in this case the rule of lenity applies. Under the rule of lenity, the court must adopt the interpretation most favorable to the criminal defendant *State V. Roberts*, 117 Wn 2d 576,586, 8.7P. 2d 855 (1991).

Had the legislature intended for multiple victims of a robber occurring in a vehicle to be treated as "same criminal conduct" the legislature would have included robbery cases under RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a). No such statement was included in the legislation therefore the legislature must have intended robbery case occurring in the same vehicle as "same criminal conduct".

Under the facts of the Lee case the statute is subject to two or more reasonable interpretations, it is ambiguous *State V. Garrison*, 46Wn.App. 52, 54, 728 P. 2d 1102 (1986); cp. *McDonald v. State Farm Fire And Gas Co.*, 119 Wn 2d 724, 733, 837 P.2d 1000 (1992).

The Supreme Court should accept review of Mr. Lees' case pursuant to RAP 13.4 (b)(1) and (4). The question of the legislative intent in applying "some course of conduct" to crimes involving multiple victims in a vehicle is an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Many crimes involve some criminal

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