FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 9/27/2019 3:53 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. 97596-5

## IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF

# WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

v.

JARED STEVEN LEE, Petitioner.

## ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

Tamara A. Hanlon, WSBA #28345 Senior Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Attorney for Respondent

JOSEPH BRUSIC Yakima County Prosecuting Attorney 128 N. 2d St. Rm. 329 Yakima, WA 98901-2621

#

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

#### E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

# 1. Lee waived any argument that counts 1 and 2 encompass the same criminal conduct.

The failure of a defendant to argue at sentencing that two crimes constituted the same criminal conduct waives the argument on appeal. *State v. Rattana Keo Phuong*, 174 Wn. App. 494, 547, 299 P.3d 37 (2013). When a defendant fails to request the court to exercise its discretion in sentencing, any error in that regard is waived. *In re Personal Restraint of Goodwin*, 146 Wn.2d 861, 875, 50 P.3d 618 (2002). Here, Lee never objected to the offender score or to the finding that the offenses did not encompass the same criminal conduct. In addition, Lee has not argued that his attorney was ineffective in failing to raise the issue at sentencing. As such, he has waived any argument that counts 1 and 2 encompass the same criminal conduct.

## 2. The Court of Appeals correctly held that counts 1 and 2 do not encompass the same criminal conduct because they involve different victims.

Appellate courts generally defer to the discretion of the sentencing court and will reverse a sentencing court's determination of same criminal conduct only on a "clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law." *State v. Haddock*, 141 Wn.2d 103, 110, 3 P.3d 733 (2000). If the record supports a single conclusion about whether the crimes constitute the same criminal conduct, the sentencing court abuses its discretion if it arrives at a contrary result. *State v. Aldana Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d 531, 537-8, 295 P.3d 219 (2013). But if the record supports different conclusions, the issue lies in the court's discretion. *Id*, at 538.

A trial court abuses its discretion where the court: (1) adopts a view no reasonable person would take and is manifestly unreasonable; (2) rests on facts unsupported in the record and is therefore based on untenable grounds; or (3) was reached by applying the wrong legal standard and is made for untenable reasons. *State v. Johnson*, 180 Wn. App. 92, 100, 320 P.3d 197 (2014). In this case, Lee has not shown an abuse of discretion.

Under the Sentencing Reform Act (SRA), "when calculating an offender's score, a court must count all convictions separately except offenses which encompass the same criminal conduct." RCW 9.94A.525(5)(a)(i), .589(1)(a). Offenses which constitute the same criminal conduct are counted as one offense. RCW 9.94A.525(5)(a)(i). "Same criminal conduct" means "two or more crimes that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, *and involve the same victim.*" RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) (emphasis added). If any element of the same criminal conduct analysis is missing, a trial court must count the offenses separately when calculating the offender score. *State v. Haddock*, 141 Wn.2d 103, 110, 3 P.3d 733 (2000); *State v. Garza-Villarreal*, 123 Wn.2d 42, 864 P.2d 1378 (1993). Thus, same criminal conduct cannot occur where there are multiple victims. *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987).

The same criminal conduct statute is "construed narrowly to disallow most claims that multiple offenses constitute the same criminal act." *Aldana Graciano*, 176 Wn.2d at 540 (quoting *State v. Porter*, 133

Wn.2d 177, 181, 942 P.2d 974 (1997)). The defendant bears the burden of proving current offenses encompass the same criminal *conduct*. *Id*.

In *State v. Dunaway*, 109 Wn.2d 207, 215, 743 P.2d 1237 (1987), this Court held that "Convictions of crimes involving multiple victims must be treated separately." The Court overruled the portion of *State v. Edwards*, 45 Wn. App. 378, 380-82, 725 P.2d 442 (1986), that held that crimes involving two victims could constitute "the same course of conduct." *Id.* This Court reasoned:

To hold otherwise would ignore two of the purposes expressed in the SRA: ensuring that punishment is proportionate to the seriousness of the offense, and protecting the public. RCW 9.94A.010(1), (4). As one commentator has noted, "to victimize more than one person clearly constitutes more serious conduct" and, therefore, such crimes should be treated separately. D. Boerner, Sentencing in Washington § 5.8(a), at 5-18 (1985). Additionally, treating such crimes separately, thereby lengthening the term of incarceration, will better protect the public by increasing the deterrence of the commission of these crimes. For these reasons, we conclude that crimes involving multiple victims must be treated separately.

Dunaway, 109 Wn.2d at 215.

Lee argues that the robbery and attempted robbery encompass the same criminal conduct. Similar arguments have been rejected before. In *State v. Rupe*, 101 Wn.2d 664, 693, 683 P.2d 571 (1984), a defendant was

convicted of two counts of aggravated first degree murder and two counts of first degree robbery after he shot and killed two bank tellers during the course of a robbery. *Id.* at 667-69. This Court held that the defendant's multiple convictions for robbery were valid under RCW 9A.56.190, the statute which defines robbery. *Id.* at 693. As the court explained:

Robbery has several distinct elements: the taking of the personal property and the use or threat to use force on an individual. The statute does not require that the person from whom the property is taken own that property. Possession or custody will suffice. Here, each teller was individually responsible for money in her till. Each had control and possession of that money and each had the money taken by the use of force. These facts constitute two separate robberies and the double convictions do not place defendant in double jeopardy.

101 Wn.2d at 693.

Similarly, in an appeal in which the proper unit of prosecution for robbery was contested, this Court explained that the "unit of prosecution" for robbery encompasses "both a taking of property and a forcible taking against the will of the person from whom or from whose presence the property is taken." *State v. Tvedt*, 153 Wn.2d 705, 720, 107 P.3d 728 (2005). Therefore, "a conviction on one count of robbery may result from *each separate taking of property from each person*," although multiple counts may not be based on "multiple items of property taken from the same person at the same time," nor on "a single taking of property from or from the presence of multiple persons even if each has an interest in the property." *Id.* (emphasis added).

Here, the second amended information identified Esteban Salazar as the victim in count 1, first degree robbery. CP 38. And in count 2, attempted first degree robbery, the victim was identified as Roger Salazar. RP 39.

In his opening statement, the prosecutor told the jury, "Count 1 is first degree robbery for taking the \$12 cash from Esteban Salazar. Count 2, attempted first degree robbery for trying to take \$3,000 cash from Roger Salazar." RP 176. The prosecutor explained that there were two victims: "The first witness to testify will be Roger Salazar. Probably the second witness to testify will be Esteban Salazar, the two named victims in this case." RP 177. At the end of his opening, the prosecutor stated:

> At the conclusion of all the evidence, I will have an opportunity to come back before you and make a closing statement. At that time I will ask you to find Mr. Lee guilty of all three counts, first degree robbery of Esteban Salazar, attempted first degree robbery of Roger Salazar and first degree unlawful possession of a firearm.

RP 186. Again, in closing argument, the prosecutor also explained that count one involved Esteban Salazar:

So let's look at the elements of first degree robbery. The state must prove these things beyond a reasonable doubt: On March 5, 2017, in Washington State, Jared Lee unlawfully took personal property, which was cash, from the person or in the presence of Esteban Salazar. That's the \$12 that Esteban and Roger testified about. Esteban Salazar owned or was in possession of the property, the cash. Mr. Lee intended to commit theft of the property, the cash, and the taking was against Esteban's will by Mr. Lee's use or threatened use of force, immediate force violence or fear of injury.

RP 597-8. He went on to explain count two:

Count 2, attempted first degree robbery. The elements, again, March 5, 2017, Washington State, Mr. Lee committed an act that was a substantial step toward the commission of first degree robbery. In this count, what we're talking about is the \$3000 or the \$3200 cash that Roger Salazar had.

RP 598. And the prosecutor explained the difference between the two

counts as follows:

Basically the difference between an attempted first degree robbery and a completed first degree robbery, in a completed first degree robbery Mr. Lee actually succeeded in getting the \$12 cash from Esteban. So that robbery is completed. The attempted first degree robbery is an attempted robbery because he did not succeed in getting the \$3000 or \$3200 cash from Roger. RP 598-9. The prosecutor then went through the evidence and throughout his closing maintained that count one involved the completed robbery of Esteban and that count two involving the attempted robbery of Roger. RP 604-7, 610. The defense attorney, in his closing argument, agreed, stating "Count 1 is based on \$12." RP 615. He argued there was a reasonable doubt as to Count 1 because "there's no \$12." RP 618. As to Count 2, the defense stated in closings that "Count 2 is first degree attempted first degree robbery. This would be for the \$3000." RP 618.

In this case, the victims for each count were clearly identified in the second amended information and throughout the trial. On appeal, Lee agrees that count one was based on an allegation that Lee had taken \$12.00 from Esteban Salazar and that count two was based on an attempt to take money from Roger Salazar. *See* Petition for Review at 4. For the first time on appeal, Lee claimed that the first degree robbery and attempted first degree robbery were the same course of conduct. The Court of Appeals rejected that argument.

Lee now argues, for the first time, that because the two victims were in a vehicle when they were robbed, the two counts (first degree robbery and attempted first degree robbery) constitute the same course of conduct. His argument is based on language in RCW 9.94A.589 regarding vehicular assault and vehicular homicide cases. He claims that the statute

is "ambiguous as applied" and that the "rule of lenity" applies. Petition at 17. However, he made no claim below that the statute was ambiguous as applied to him. This issue was never raised or briefed at the trial level or in the Court of Appeals and should not be considered now by this Court. *State v. Halstien*, 122 Wash.2d 109, 130, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) ("An issue not raised or briefed in the Court of Appeals will not be considered by this court.") (citing *State v. Laviollette*, 118 Wash.2d 670, 679, 826 P.2d 684 (1992)).

Even if the Court considers this new issue, it must be rejected. First of all, the statute is not ambiguous. Statutory construction begins by reading the text of the statute or statutes involved. If the language is unambiguous, a reviewing court is to rely solely on the statutory language. *State v. Avery*, 103 Wn. App. 527, 532, 13 P.3d 226 (2000). Where statutory language is amenable to more than one reasonable interpretation, it is deemed to be ambiguous. *State v. Keller*, 143 Wn.2d 267, 276, 19 P.3d 1030 (2001). Here, RCW 9.94A.589 is not subject to more than one reasonable interpretation. By definition, the crimes of vehicular assault and vehicular homicide involve a vehicle. As such, addressing whether multiple victims occupy the same vehicle or not is appropriate for those types of cases. It does require that we go through an analysis for *other* crimes as to whether the victims occupy the same vehicle or not.

Second, a reading that produces absurd results must be avoided because "it will not be presumed that the legislature intended absurd results." *State v. J.P.*, 149 Wn.2d 444, 450, 69 P.3d 318 (2003). Based on Lee's argument, any crimes (other than vehicular assault and vehicular homicide) would be considered the same course of conduct if multiple victims occupied the same vehicle. For example, if a defendant shot three passengers in a car, the three murder convictions would count as one crime despite there being three separate victims. Lee argues that "had the legislature intended other crimes to be calculated similarly it would have included those crimes in its legislation." Petition at 16. He did not make this argument at the Court of Appeals or at the trial court level. He makes this argument now for the first time in his petition for review to this Court.

A look at the prior amendments to RCW 9.94A.589 is informative. Prior to 1996, the statute read as follows:

> (I) (a) Except as provided in (b) of this subsection, whenever a person is to be sentenced for two or more current offenses, the sentence range for each current offense shall be determined by using all other current and prior convictions as if they were prior convictions for the purpose of the offender score: PROVIDED, That if the court enters a finding that some or all of the current offenses encompass the same criminal conduct then those current offenses shall be counted as one crime. Sentences imposed under this subsection

shall be served concurrently. Consecutive sentences may only be imposed under the exceptional sentence provisions of RCW 9.94A.120 and 9.94A.390(2)(f) or any other provision of RCW 9.94A.390. "Same criminal conduct," as used in this subsection, means two or more crimes that require the same criminal intent, are committed at the same time and place, and involve the same victim. This definition does not apply in cases involving vehicular assault or vehicular homicide if the victims occupied the same vehicle. However, the sentencing judge may consider multiple victims in such instances as an aggravating circumstance under RCW 9.94A.390.

Former RCW 9.94A.589 (emphasis added). The rationale for this

vehicular assault/homicide exception that existed at the time was

explained in State v. Danis:

A basis for this distinction is that victims in the same vehicle are necessarily hurt by one impact, whereas multiple victims not in the same vehicle (for example, two vehicles or two pedestrians or one vehicle and one pedestrian) almost necessarily involve more than one impact.

•••

The Legislature is entitled to provide less punishment to defendants whose victims occupied one vehicle.

64 Wash. App. 814, 821-22, 826 P.2d 1096, 1100 (1992). However, the

statute was amended in 1996 to read as follows: "This definition applies in

cases involving vehicular assault or vehicular homicide even if the victims

occupied the same vehicle." RCW 9.94A.589. As such, the legislature undid the specific exception for vehicular assault and vehicular homicide cases. The amendment was proposed in Senate Bill 2227, entitled "An act relating to felony traffic offense." 1996 Final Bill Report, ESHB 2227. Numerous changes were made to the vehicular homicide and vehicular assault laws, including raising vehicular homicide to a class A and vehicular assault to class B. *Id.* Nothing indicates that the legislature's intent was to change the law pertaining to other types of crime where multiple victims occupy the same vehicle. As such, Lee's argument is without merit.

#### F. CONCLUSION

This case does not meet any of the criteria in RAP 13.4(b). First of all, the decision is not in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court or another decision of the Court of Appeals. Second, a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is not involved. Lastly, the petition does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. The Court of Appeals was correct in finding that counts 1 and 2 did not encompass the same criminal conduct. As such, Lee's petition for review should be denied.